
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

 
 
 

ELECTORAL  
PROVISIONS  

SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

Councillor C J Shippam (Chairman) 
Councillor D Swinerd (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillor A E D Barham 

Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor A Gaskin 

Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor M B Kelly 

Councillor D J Reynolds 
Councillor K Stealey 
Councillor R J Wells 

 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 
 

Thursday 24 November 2022 
 

at 7.00 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 
 

 
 

Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 
Wednesday 16 November 2022 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 

 



 
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

AGENDA 
 

Thursday 24 November 2022 
 
  
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 

terms(s) of Grants of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or the 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 

 
3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2022 

(Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 
4. Urgent Items   
 The Chairman will announce if there are any urgent items and their 

position on the Agenda. 
 

 

 
5. References from other Committees   
 
6. Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023 (Pages 7 - 14)  
 To consider the revised proposals from the Boundary Commission for 

England 2023 Review for the Dartford Constituency and approve the 
Council’s response to the four-week consultation. 
 

 

 
7. Election Act   
 To receive an oral update of the Election Act in preparation for the 

May 2023 Local Elections. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee held on 
Thursday 30 June 2022. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor Chris Shippam (Chairman) 
Councillor Drew Swinerd (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Sue Butterfill 
Councillor Alina Gaskin 
Councillor Kelly Grehan 
Councillor Tom Oliver 
Councillor Denzil J Reynolds 
Councillor Kyle Stealey 
Councillor Richard J Wells 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor Mrs Anita Barham 
Councillor Laura Edie 
Councillor Maria B Kelly 
 

 
 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 

 
 Sarah Martin – Chief Officer & Director of Corporate 

Services 
 Jeanette Pegler – Electoral Services Manager 
 Alan Twyman – Democratic Services Manager 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
The Chairman welcomed new members to the meeting and thanked former 
members of the Sub-committee, Councillors Romana and Sacha Gosine, for 
their support. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors  Barham, Edie, and 
Kelly. 
 
Councilllor Butterfill attended as substitute for Councillor Barham, and 
Councillor Oliver attended as substitute for Councillor Kelly.  
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 3 FEBRUARY 2022  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee held 
on 3 February 2022 were agreed as an accurate record. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

4. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

5. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES. (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

6. ELECTIONS BILL  
 
The Electoral Services Manager gave a presentation highlighting the principal 
changes contained in the Elections Act 2022 and the challenges that these 
would have on the delivery of electoral services in the future which included: 
 

 The requirement for voters to present photo id when voting at a polling 
station at elections from May 2023. Where people did not have photo id 
they would be able to apply to the Electoral Registration Officer for a 
Voter id card, with the application process starting in December 2022. 
The requirement to produce photo id at polling stations would place 
additional challenges on polling staff who would be required to check 
the id and deal with any anomalies and was likely to result in queues to 
vote at some polling stations, although anyone in a queue at the close 
of poll would be able to vote. Applications for voter id cards would also 
place additional pressure on the Electoral Services Team as people 
could apply for an id card up until 5pm on the day before the poll and it 
was likely that there would be many late applications. It was estimated 
that at least 2% of the population does not have photo id which would 
equate to a possible 1,645 applications for a voter card in Dartford; 

 
 General responsibility for Returning Officers to take all reasonable 

steps to support voters with disabilities and provisions to allow disabled 
voters to be assisted by a companion providing they are over the age 
of 18 and are qualified to vote in that election, to come into effect from 
May 2023. The Electoral Services Team had already carried out a lot of 
work with local disability groups over accessibility but not all polling 
stations were readily accessible and, where possible, reasonable 
adaptations were made and staff were trained to assist voters with 
disabilities; 
 

 Tightening of the rules on the handling of absent votes including a 
prohibition on political parties and campaigners handling postal votes, 
a limit on the number of postal votes that can be handed in by a single 
person, a reduction in the timeframe for ‘refreshing’ applications from 5 
to 3 years, limiting the number of people that a person can act as a 
proxy for to 4 people and requiring applications to go through a 
verification of identity; 
 

 Enabling electors to apply for an absent vote online from July 2023 and 
for an applicant’s identity to be verified for all absent votes, whether 
online or not. The method of verification would be contained in 
secondary legislation but it was anticipated that there will be a 
significant number of online applications; 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY 30 JUNE 2022 
 

3

 
 Clarification on the voting and candidacy rights of EU citizens – which 

would now be confined to qualifying EU citizens from countries with 
reciprocal agreements and who have leave to remain in the UK (or who 
don’t require leave to remain in the UK) – currently Luxembourg, 
Poland, Portugal and Spain; or ‘EU citizens with retained rights’ who 
were resident in the UK before 1 January 2021, although it remained to 
be established how this could be verified; 
 

 The removal of the 15 year limit on voting rights for overseas electors 
in UK Parliamentary elections from May 2024, which could result in a 
tripling in the number of applications. These applications take longer to 
process and can be very time consuming. Applications would need to 
be renewed every 3 years.    

 
These changes would place additional burdens on the Registration and 
Returning Officer, the core Electoral Services Team and upon polling staff 
during the elections and would be addressed by a whole-Council approach 
drawing on assistance from multiple service areas and ensuring effective 
communication of the new requirements. It was possible that some of the 
timetable for the introduction of the changes could alter but it was almost 
certain that the requirement for the production of Voter id would apply in May 
2023. 
 
A Member asked how these changes would be communicated with Members, 
prospective candidates and the public. The Electoral Services Manager 
explained that there would be early engagement with candidates and 
Members and a full communications strategy around the requirements for 
photo id, including working with local organisations. She also clarified that 
Voter id was not a permanent id card and could not be used as such, she also 
clarified that the Voter id would have to contain the name of a person as 
included in the Register of Electors. 
 
Members thanked the Electoral Services Manager for her comprehensive 
presentation. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the presentation on the implications of the Election Act 
2022 be noted.     
 

7. INTERIM REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2022  
 
The Electoral Services Manager introduced a report which detailed the 
response to the review of polling districts and polling places which was 
conducted between 7 March and 30 May 2022. The responses and proposals 
were detailed in the appendices to the report, which also included comments 
from the (Acting) Returning Officer both prior to the review and following its 
conclusion. In conducting the review consideration had not only been given to 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

the accessibility, lighting and location of the polling places but also to the 
additional requirements of the Elections Act 2022, including the need for 
electors to present ID when voting at polling stations and the desirability for 
there to be a suitable area where staff would be able to check documents and 
hold confidential conversations with electors. The Sub-committee was asked 
to consider the final proposals and to recommend to the General Assembly of 
the Council accordingly. If approved by the General Assembly of the Council 
the revised arrangements would take effect following the republication of the 
register of electors in December 2022 and would be used at the next local 
elections in May 2023. 
 
The Electoral Services Manager went through the recommendations on the 
polling places and districts individually, highlighting where changes were 
proposed and the rationale behind the changes, and also where no change 
was proposed to existing arrangements. It was hoped that conducting this 
review now, and engaging with the owners of premises that were proposed to 
be used for polling, would assist with the efficient administration of 
forthcoming elections and result in less challenges in terms of the .vailability 
of premises. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the comments received as part of the review of polling districts and 

polling places, at Appendices A, B(i) and B(ii) to the report be noted; and 
 
2. That the recommended changes to the Polling Districts and Polling Places, 

detailed in Appendix C to the report, be endorsed and recommended to the 
General Assembly of the Council for approval.  

 
 

8. COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW - SWANSCOMBE TOWN WARD  
 
The Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services introduced a report which 
asked the Sub-committee to consider whether a Community Governance 
Review (CGR) should be carried out for the Swanscombe Ward area of 
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council and whether the boundaries of 
Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet borough wards should be amended so that they 
were coterminous. Considerable development was taking place across 
Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet which would change the character and area of 
local communities and would result in electoral anomalies. The CGR was a 
process which allowed the Borough Council to consider whether existing 
parish arrangements were robust, representative and proving efficient delivery 
of local services. This process would include consulting electors, the 
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council and interested parties before 
completing a Reorganisation of Community Governance Order. As a CGR of 
all parish arrangements across the borough had been carried out within the 
last five years, to coincide with the review of Borough wards conducted by the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE), consent to 
any changes to the parish ward would also require the consent of the Chief 
Executive of the LGBCE. Subject to the outcome of the CGR the Sub-
committee was also asked to consider the expediency of seeking to amend 
the boundaries of the Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet borough wards so that they 
are coterminous which would require the General Assembly of the Council to 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY 30 JUNE 2022 
 

5

ask the LGBCE to make an order to confirm the amendment to the borough 
ward boundaries. This would need to be done by 1 October 2022 in order to 
stand a chance of an Order being made in time for implementation in the May 
2023 local elections.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That, to ensure that the town and parish council governance 

arrangements continue to reflect the identities and interests of the 
community and is effective and convenient, a Community Governance 
Review be conducted to consider amending the boundary of the 
Swanscombe Ward area of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council, 
as delineated by a red line on the map, at Appendix B to the report; 

2. That the Terms of Reference and timescale for the Community 
Governance Review, as detailed in Appendix C to the report, be 
approved; 

3. That Members note that the Community Governance Review cannot 
make any changes to the Swanscombe Town Ward or Swanscombe and 
Ebbsfleet borough ward boundaries, without the consent of the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England; and 

4.  That, subject to the outcome of the Community Governance Review, the 
Sub-committee considers whether the boundaries of Swanscombe and 
Ebbsfleet borough wards should be amended so they are coterminous 
and if the proposal is endorsed, subject to the consultation outcome, the 
General Assembly of the Council be recommended to ask the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England to make an Order 
confirming the amendment. 

 
 
 

The meeting closed at 8.20 pm 
 
  

 
 

Councillor C J Shippam 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6Agenda Item 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
24 November 2022 

PARLIAMENTARY BOUNDARY REVIEW 2023 
 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To consider the revised proposals from the Boundary Commission for England 

2023 Review for the Dartford Constituency and approve the Council’s response 
to the four-week consultation. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1  That the revised proposals of the 2023 Review from the Boundary Commission 

for England for the Dartford Parliamentary constituency, be noted. 

2.2  That, subject to any further comments received,  the Sub-committee review (and 
amend if necessary) the draft response at Appendix B and grant delegated 
authority to the Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services to submit the 
final response on behalf of Dartford Borough Council. 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The Boundary Commission for England (BCE) is an independent and 
impartial non-departmental public body, which is responsible for 
reviewing Parliamentary constituency boundaries in England and has 
been conducting a review (2023 Review) of all the parliamentary 
constituencies in England. 
 

3.2. On 8 November 2022, the BCE published its revised proposals for new 
constituency boundaries for England and commenced a four-week 
public consultation period, ending 5 December 2022.  

3.3. The proposal for the Dartford Constituency was circulated to all 
Members and they were asked that any comments be provided by the 
18 November 2022 for the Sub-committee to consider at this meeting 
(responses received will be published as a separate addendum to this 
report). 

3.4. This will be the final opportunity to give the BCE views on its proposals 
before it makes a formal final report to the Speaker of the House of 
Commons before 1 July 2023, recommending any changes that it 
believes are appropriate to the distribution, size, shape, name or 
designation of constituencies in England. 

3.5. The rules for the 2023 Review require that every recommended 
constituency across the UK, must have an electorate that is no smaller 
than 69,724 and no larger than 77,062. 
 

3.6. The current Dartford Constituency takes in part of Sevenoaks District 
and is now significantly larger than the maximum electorate permitted.  
The Parliamentary electorate in the Borough of Dartford, without the 

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
24 November 2022 

Sevenoaks electorate from the Hartley and Hodsall Street areas, as at 
the 1 September 2022, is 77,850.  This is already larger than the 
permitted electorate figure and leaves no provision for the population 
growth expected in the Borough due to development. 

3.7. When the General Assembly of the Council considered the BCE’s initial 
proposals on 26 July 2021 [Min. No. 34], it supported the alternative 
proposal put forward by the Electoral Provisions Sub-committee [8 July 
2021 [Min.No.6]]. 

3.8. The alternative proposal was to split the Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone and 
Hawley ward so that only part of it would be transferred to the Sevenoaks 
Constituency (WSH1 & WSH2). The remaining parts, WHS3 – 5 and 
Darenth Ward, would remain in the Dartford Constituency.  This proposal 
retains both the Dartford and Sevenoaks Constituency within the 
electorate threshold for the review.  
 

3.9. Although the BCE has revised 27 of the 91 constituencies in the South 
East of England that it proposed in June 2021, it has maintained its initial 
proposals for the remainder, which include those for the Dartford 
Constituency. 

3.10. In the Kent sub-region, the BCE has only proposed minor revisions 
outside Ashford around Charing, as well as including Hawkhurst and 
Sandhurst ward in Tunbridge Wells. 

3.11. The BCE is consulting on the revised proposals over a four-week period, 
from 8 November 2022 to 5 December 2022 and is encouraging 
everyone to use this final opportunity to contribute to the design of the 
new constituencies. 

3.12. Subject to any further comments received, the Sub-committee is asked 
to consider (and amend if necessary) the draft response at Appendix B 
and to grant delegated authority to the Chief Officer and Director of 
Corporate Services to submit the final response on behalf of Dartford 
Borough Council. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

Not applicable. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 
Financial Implications None 
Legal Implications None 
Climate Impact 
Assessment 

None 

Staffing Implications None 
Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Page 8Agenda Item 6



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
24 November 2022 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 
 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
  
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – BCE – Final Proposals for the South East 
Appendix B - Proposed response to the BSE proposals BCE  

 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
https://boundarycommissionfo
rengland.independent.gov.uk/
2023-review/  

08/11/22 Jeanette Pegler 
(01322) 343424 

Electoral 
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 

N/A  

Page 9 Agenda Item 6

https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/
https://boundarycommissionforengland.independent.gov.uk/2023-review/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



, 

$' 

Wards: 

1 Bean & Village Park 

2 Brent 

3 Bridge 

4 Burnham 

5 Ebbs fleet 

6 Greenhithe & Knockhall 

7 Heath 

8 Joyden's Wood 

9 
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet 

10 Maypole & Leyton Cross 

11 Newtown 

12 Princes 

13 Stone Castle 

14 Stone House 

15 Swanscombe 

16 Temple Hill 

17 Town 

18 West Hill 

C Constituency

D Local Authorities 
.... -, 

I__J Wards 

0 0.6 1.2 km 

A 
1111�-,,.--;-��-I © Crown copyright and database rights 2022 OS 100018289. 

You are pernitted to use this data solely to enable you to 
respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you 
with the data. You are not pemitted to copy, sub-licence, 

J 

distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form. 
0H�.r l Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be 

.. 

' 'I ,g/ n reserved to OS. 
w:: / fl I 

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 12



Appendix B 
 

Proposed Response to the Consultation  
 

Dartford Borough Council has reviewed the revised proposals and expresses its 
disappointment that the suggested alternative proposals for the Dartford constituency 
have not been adopted.  
 
As previously acknowledged, Dartford Borough Council understands the need to 
review the constituencies to equalise number of electors represented, however the 
recommendations proposed are not fully supported. 

The borough wards identified to be moved to the Sevenoaks Constituency are well-
defined and well-understood parts of Dartford, which have strong community and 
historic links and losing these would be detrimental to Dartford’s identity. Further, 
these areas have no identity with Sevenoaks. 

We acknowledge that there are special geographical considerations (London 
Boundary and River Thames) which have prevented changes to other areas of the 
constituency; however, the proposal would take the Sevenoaks Constituency to the 
heart of Dartford and its Town Centre. 

The Council asks that the Boundary Commission reconsiders the previous alternative 
proposal submitted to split the Wilmington, Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley ward so that 
only part of it would be transferred to the Sevenoaks Constituency (Polling Districts 
WSH1 & WSH2). The remaining part, Polling Districts WSH3 to WHS5 and Darenth 
Ward, would remain in the Dartford Constituency.  This proposal would retain both the 
Dartford and Sevenoaks Constituency within the electorate threshold for the review. 

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14


	Agenda
	at 7.00 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2022
	Minutes

	6 Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023
	Appendix A Review 2023 Proposals
	Appendix B Draft Response


